

The Multifunctional Roles of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus* 50KP Movement Protein

Masamichi Isogai • Hajime Yaegashi • Nobuyuki Yoshikawa*

Laboratory of Plant Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture, Iwate University, Ueda 3-18-8, Morioka 020-8550, Japan Corresponding author: * yoshikawa@iwate-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT

Diverse plant virus families encode movement proteins (MPs) in their genomes. MPs are required for cell-to-cell movement of the virus in host plants and modify plasmodesmata in the cell wall, allowing cell-to-cell movement of virus particles or infectious transcripts. In recent years, much progress has been made in determining cell-to-cell movement functions of MPs from herbaceous plant viruses. On the other hand, only a few studies have examined MPs of viruses infecting woody hosts. *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus* (ACLSV), the type species of the genus *Trichovirus*, is graft-transmissible and causes topworking disease, which induces lethal decline in apple trees grown on Maruba kaido (*Malus prunifolia* var. *ringo*) rootstocks. ACLSV encodes a MP with a mol. wt of 50 kDa (50KP). In this review, we summarize the multifunctional roles of ACLSV MP which has the following characteristics: 1) it localizes to plasmodesmata in infected and transgenic cells, 2) it can spread from cells that initially produce it into neighboring cells, 3) it enables cell-to-cell trafficking of green fluorescent protein (GFP) when 50KP and GFP are co-expressed in the leaf epidermis, 4) it induces the production of tubular structures protruding from the surface of protoplasts, 5) it has two independently active, single-stranded nucleic acid binding domains, 6) it interferes specifically with the functions of the MP encoded by *Grapevine berry inner necrosis virus*, and 7) it acts as a suppressor of systemic silencing without interfering with local silencing, probably by inhibiting the movement of silencing signals.

Keywords: ACLSV, cell-to-cell movement, *Flexiviridae*, MP, MP-derived resistance, RNA-binding domain, RNA silencing suppressor, *Trichovirus*

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
AMINO ACID SEQUENCE	
SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION	
CELL-TO-CELL MOVEMENT AND INCREASING THE PLASMODESMATAL SIZE EXCLUSION LIMIT	
TUBULE-INDUCING ACTIVITY	
RNA-BINDING ACTIVITY	
MP-DERIVED RESISTANCE	
Inhibition of GINV 39KP cell-to-cell movement	
Mapping 50KP domain involved in the inhibition of 39KP cell-to-cell movement	
The relationship between inhibition of 39KP cell-to-cell trafficking and resistance against GINV	
Inhibition of GINV long-distance movement	
RNA SILENCING SUPPRESSOR	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Plant viruses replicate their genomes within cells surrounded by impregnable barriers – plant cell walls. To expand viral infections, plant viruses must move from an infected cell to a neighboring cell beyond cell walls (cell-to-cell movement) until they enter the vascular system, which allows rapid movement to distant parts of the plants (longdistance movement). It is generally accepted that cell-tocell movement proteins (MP) encoded by plant virus genomes localize on plasmodesmata (Pd) and modulate the size exclusion limit (SEL) of the Pd, allowing cell-to-cell movement of viruses (Carrington *et al.* 1996; Lazarowitz and Beachy 1999). Presently, two mechanisms of cell-to-cell movement have been proposed. In the first type (type 1), the MP interacts with RNA to form a MP-RNA complex that is able to transport virus genome to adjacent cells, e.g., Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) and Cucumber mosaic virus (CMV). Recent studies have proposed that TMV moves across plasmodesmata as virus replication complexes that contain MPs, viral replicase and genomic RNAs (Kawakami et al. 2004), and that its replicase protein affects cell-to-cell movement (Knapp et al. 2005). Additionally, coat protein (CP) is essential for the cell-to-cell movement of CMV, although virion assembly is not required (Kaplan et al. 1998). In the second type (type 2), mature virions are transported through viral MP-containing tubules that are assembled inside the plasmodesmal pore, e.g., Cowpea mosaic virus (CPMV). This type of cell-to-cell movement is called tubule-guided virion movement (van Lent et al. 1990; Kasteel et al. 1993; Perbal et al. 1993). The morphology of the virion-containing tubule suggests that tubule assembly from MP molecules and entrapment of the virion takes place



Fig. 1 Particle and genome organization of ACLSV, and a summary of ACLSV MP (50KP) deletion mutants. The regions of the wild-type 50KP that are represented in each 50KP deletion derivative are indicated by gray bars. Amino acid residues 1-287 and 1-267 are essential for 50KP cell-to-cell trafficking and inhibition of 39KP movement, respectively. ssRNA-binding domains A (amino acid residues 82-125) and B (amino acid residues 126-287) have potential to interact with ssRNA.

simultaneously at or near the plasma membrane (Carvalho et al. 2003). It has been shown that the MP is a component of the tubule structure (van Lent et al. 1990, 1991) and is bound specifically to CPMV virions, and the MP engages in self interactions (Carvalho et al. 2003). Recently, Sánchez-Navarro and associates (2006) showed that CPMV MP transports Alfalfa mosaic virus (AlMV) genomes to adjacent cells using the type1 movement mechanism when CPMV MP is modified for binding to AlMV CP. Thus, in viruses classified into the type 2 movement group, both type 1 and type 2 movement mechanisms may co-exist, and the host or tissue type may determine the mechanisms used by the virus (Nurkiyanova et al. 2001; Carvalho et al. 2004; Isogai et al. 2006; Sánchez-Navarro et al. 2006). As mentioned above, in recent years remarkable progress has been made in the elucidation of virus cell-to-cell movement. However, only a few studies have examined MPs of viruses infecting woody hosts, although some orchard infecting viruses cause critical problems for fruit production.

Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus (ACLSV) is distributed worldwide in fruit trees including apple, peach, pear, plum, cherry and apricot (Lister 1970; Németh 1986; Yoshikawa 2001) and is graft-transmissible (Yanase 1974). In Japan, ACLSV is well known as one of the causative agents of apple topworking disease, and induces lethal decline in apple trees grown on Maruba kaido (Malus prunifolia var. ringo) rootstock. Additionally, top grafting is a method most often used for renewal of a variety in apple trees even today. Thus, the disease had spread to healthy apple trees and had caused severe damage to them until the cause of this disease was elucidated. ACLSV is classified in the type species of the Trichovirus genus, Flexiviridae family (Fauquet et al. 2005). ACLSV has a flexuous filamentous particle (740 to 760 nm in length and 12 nm in width) and contains a single RNA species and a single coat protein (Yoshikawa and Takahashi 1988) (Fig. 1). The ACLSV genome contains three open reading frames which encode a replicationassociated protein (216KP), MP (50KP), and CP, respectively (Fig. 1; German et al. 1990; Sato et al. 1993).

When scions are infected with graft-transmissible viruses, stocks joined to them are forced to be infected with the viruses, which move into every part of the plants. Thus, top grafting must be handled carefully, especially when scions infected with graft-transmissible viruses show no symptoms because of different cultivar response to viral infection. To understand the mechanisms of virus movement seems to be useful to prevent the viruses from spreading by top grafting. Here we review the multifunctional roles of 50KP as movement protein and RNA silencing suppressor obtained in the last ten years.

AMINO ACID SEQUENCE

The ACLSV (isolate P-205) genome consists of 7552 nucleotides and contains three open reading frames which encode a replication-associated protein, MP, and CP, respectively (Fig. 1; Sato et al. 1993). In this review, the ACLSV MP is referred to as 50KP. The 50KP-coding region begins at AUG (nucleotides 5727-5729) and terminates at UGA (nucleotides 7098-7100). The protein consists of 457 amino acids, and the predicted molecular mass is 50453 Da. In vivo detection of 50KP by immunoblotting, besides a 50 kDa protein, a 52 kDa protein is also detected in the infected Chenopodium quinoa. The 52 kDa protein is larger than that predicted by the encoding 50KP ORF (Sato et al. 1995). The 52 kDa protein extracted from infected tissues treated with alkaline phosphatase results in a decrease of its molecular mass from 52 kDa to 50 kDa. The results suggest that 50KP is translated in vivo, and a part of 50KP is phosphorylated in infected tissues.

Many viral MPs have been assigned to the 30K superfamily independently of the mechanisms of virus cell-to-cell movement (Melcher 2000). The 50KP also has been assigned to the 30K superfamily by comparative sequence analysis (Koonin 1991), and has the principal conserved motif (amino acids residues 85 to 117) in the vast superfamily of the plant MP (Mushegian and Koonin 1993). In the principal conserved motif, one aspartic acid, referred to as the D motif, is almost absolutely conserved (Koonin *et al.* 1991). An aspartic acid at amino acids residue 112 of 50KP is assigned to the D motif.

SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION

In immunoblot analysis, the 50KP is detected in cell wall fraction prepared from infected *C. quinoa* tissues (Sato *et al.* 1995). We tried to examine the intracellular localization of 50KP by immunogold electron microscopy (Yoshikawa *et al.* 1999). Immunoelectron microscopy of ultrathin sections of ACLSV-infected *C. quinoa* leaves using an antibody against 50KP showed that the 50KP was distributed on and near plasmodesmata. These results are convincing in theory and show that plant viruses move from cell-to-cell via plasmodesmata. The ACLSV virions and their associated tubules passing through plasmodesmata are never observed in cell walls (Yoshikawa *et al.* 1999). It is speculated that the ACLSV genome is transported as MP-RNA complex using type 1 transferring mechanisms (see Introduction).

In order to analyze 50KP subcellular localization by a non-destructive test, transgenic Nicotiana occidentalis plant leaves expressing 50KP fused to green fluorescent protein (50KP-GFP plant leaves) were observed using fluorescence and confocal laser scanning microscopes (Yoshikawa et al. 1999). The 50KP-GFP fluorescence was detected as spots on the cell wall in the epidermal cells (Fig. 2). Careful observation by CLSM revealed that the fluorescence spots of 50KP-GFP were visible as strands passing through the cell wall. To test whether the spots were located on plasmodesmata, we detected callose in cell wall using a mouse monoclonal antibody against β -1,3 glucan and an anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to rhodamine. The 50KP-GFP fluorescence spots (the GFP fluorescence) and callose fluorescence spots (the rhodamine fluorescence) were colocalized, indicating that the 50KP-GFP fusion targeted to plasmodesmata in the same way as described for 50KP subcellular localization of the ACLSV infected plants. Furthermore, the 50KP-GFP accumulated in sieve elements (SE) and seemed to form an extensive interconnecting network of threadlike structures (Fig. 2). The 50KP-GFP was associated with sieve plates as well. More detailed observation of leaf veins showed that the 50KP-GFP fluorescence was associated with the parietal layer of SE and clusters of intense fluorescence interconnected by threadlike structures, which were located at almost regular intervals. The localization of 50KP in SE of transgenic N. occidentalis plants expressing 50KP (50KP plants) and ACLSV-infected C. quinoa plants was also investigated by immunogold electron microscopy using anti-50KP antiserum (Yoshikawa et al. 2006). In 50KP plants and ACLSV-infected C. quinoa plants, gold particles were often found on the parietal layer of SE, sieve plates, and the inside of SE as small aggregates. Thus, the accumulation and distribution of 50KP in SE of 50KP plants and ACLSV-infected plants almost coincided with those of 50KP-GFP examined using a confocal laser scanning microscope. Therefore, it is conceivable that the 50KP in the parietal layer of SE plays a role in facilitating the long distance movement of the virus as well as the cell-tocell movement.

CELL-TO-CELL MOVEMENT AND INCREASING THE PLASMODESMATAL SIZE EXCLUSION LIMIT

Cell-to-cell trafficking of MP-GFP expressed transiently in leaf epidermis has been reported in CMV and AlMV, in which the protein moves into neighboring cells from originally transfected cells (Itaya *et al.* 1997; Hung and Zhang 1999).

To demonstrate cell-to-cell trafficking of 50KP, the 50KP-GFP were transiently expressed under the control of the 35S promoter in the epidermis of *N. occidentalis* (Satoh *et al.* 2000). Fluorescence microscopy showed that the 50KP-GFP (ca. 77kDa) move from the cells that produce it into the neighboring cells in mature leaves, and in contrast,



Fig. 2 Analysis of movement proteins fused to GFP using fluorescence and confocal laser scanning microscopes. A-C: Detection of 50KP fused to GFP (50KP-GFP) in leaf epidermal cells (A) and sieve elements (B and C) of transgenic *Nicotiana occidentalis* plants expressing 50KP-GFP by a confocal laser scanning microscope. Arrowheads in C indicate clusters of intense fluorescence thought to be located next to plasmodesmata connecting sieve element and companion cells. SP, sieve plate. D and E: Fluorescence of GINV 39KP fused to GFP expressed transiently in leaf epidermis of nontransgenic (D; NT plant) and transgenic *Nicotiana occidentalis* expressing 50KP (E; 50KP plant) by a fluorescence microscope. The 39KP-GFP was confined in a single cell and formed aggregates in cytoplasm in 50KP plant (E), in contrast to 39KP-GFP in NT plant showing cell-to-cell movement (D). Asterisks indicate cells originally producing 39KP-GFP. Scale bars represent 20 μ m (A-C) and 50 μ m (D, E).

free GFP remained in single cells. At higher magnification, the 50KP-GFP in cells was detected as spots or strands passing through the cell wall, indicating that fluorescence was located at the plasmodesmata, as reported for transgenic *N. occidentalis* plants expressing 50KP-GFP (see Subcellular Localization). Molecules with a mass of <1 kDa can passively diffuse through plasmodesmata under normal conditions (Carrington *et al.* 1996). Thus, these results suggest that 50KP-GFP may increase the SEL of the plasmodesmata up to at least 77 kDa and traffic itself through these plasmodesmata.

To further investigate whether 50KP can facilitate the transport of other molecules, free GFP (27 kDa) were coexpressed with 50KP transiently in the epidermis of *N. occidentalis* (Satoh *et al.* 2000). The fluorescence of GFP spread more widely from the cells that initially produced it when co-expressed with 50KP. In contrast, GFP cell-to-cell movement was rare when GFP was singly expressed as described above. Thus, we showed that 50KP could facilitate transport of other molecules as well as its own cell-to-cell movement. It can be concluded from these data that the 50KP plays an important role in viral movement: the 50KP increases SEL and transfers the viral genome complex to remote uninfected cells.

TUBULE-INDUCING ACTIVITY

In the type 2 cell-to-cell movement, mature virions are transported through viral MP-containing tubules that are assembled inside the plasmodesmata pore (see Introduction). In addition, the tubules protruding from infected protoplast were also observed in the type 2 trafficking. Thus, the tubules in infected protoplast seem to be related to the type 2 trafficking mechanism. However, some viral MPs that perform the type 1 trafficking form tubules on the surface of protoplasts, although tubular structure is not observed in plasmodesmata of virus-infected tissues (Kasteel *et al.* 1997; Canto and Palukaitis 1999). The 50KP-GFP also induces the production of fluorescent tubular structures protruding from the surface of protoplasts (Satoh *et al.* 2000). The reason these type1 viral MPs assembles the tubules in protoplasts has not yet been revealed.

We analyzed the correlations among the abilities of 50KP to assemble tubules in protoplasts, to localize plasmodesmata, and to traffic itself from cell to cell (Satoh et al. 2000). We also constructed truncated forms of 50KP (Fig.1; ΔA to ΔG). When protoplasts were transfected with the mutants fused to GFP, ΔA , ΔB and ΔC formed fluorescence tubular structure, but ΔD , ΔE , ΔF and ΔG did not. In addition, ΔA , ΔB and ΔC retained their abilities to move from cell-to-cell and to localize to plasmodesmata, but ΔD , ΔE , ΔF and ΔG did not retain these abilities. Furthermore, we examined complementation of cell-to-cell movement of 50KP-defective virus when the 50KP mutants were expressed transiently in leaf epidermis. In advance, we revealed that the 50KP-deficient mutant (p\DataStuNhe) of infectious ACLSV cDNA clone (pCLSF) was found to replicate in protoplast from C. quinoa leaves and was complemented in the viral cell-to-cell movement in transgenic N. occidentalis plants expressing 50KP (50KP plants) (Satoh et al. 1999: Yoshikawa et al. 2000). Similar complementation of the 50KP-deficient virus was found in leaves co-bombarded with ΔA , ΔB and ΔC , but not with ΔD , ΔE , ΔF and ΔG . These mutational analyses indicate that the 50KP domain that is necessary to form tubular structure is in accord with the domain that is necessary for localization to plasmodesmata, cell-to-cell movement of the 50KP, and the ACLSV cell-to-cell movement.

RNA-BINDING ACTIVITY

The 50KP localizes to plasmodesmata within virus-infected cells without formation of tubules; virions are not observed in cell-wall plasmodesmata. Additionally, the 50KP function as follows: 1) the 50KP spread from the cells that produce the protein into neighboring cells, 2) the 50KP facilitate transport of other molecules. Therefore, the ACLSV genome is thought to transport from cell-to-cell as a 50KP-RNA complex that uses the ability of the 50KP to move cell to cell (type 1 mechanism). In type 1, it is reasonable for the viral MP to have the ability to bind RNA because the MP directly transfers virus genomes or viral transcripts to adjacent cells.

To analyze RNA-binding properties of 50KP, the protein was expressed in Escherichia coli and was used in UV cross-linking analysis using a digoxigenin-UTP-labelled RNA probe and gel retardation analysis (Isogai and Yoshikawa 2005). The analyses demonstrated that 50KP bound cooperatively to ssRNA. Most of the 50KP could bind to ssRNA in binding buffer with 1 M NaCl concentration when analyzed for dependence of the RNA-binding activity of the MP on NaCl. Furthermore, competition binding experiments showed that 50KP preferentially bound to ssRNA and ssDNA without sequence specificity. The 50KP deletion mutants were used to identify the RNA-binding domain by UV cross-linking analysis. The regions between ami-no acid residues 82 to 126 and 127 to 287 potentially contain two independently active single-stranded nucleic acid binding domains (Fig. 1). Thus, 50KP could transfer viral RNA to adjacent cells if the 50KP-binding viral RNA sus-tained the ability to move from cell-to-cell. The 50KP and TMV MP are only two examples containing two adjacent RNA-binding domains, even though Apple latent spherical virus MP contains at least three independent single-stranded nucleic acid-binding domains (Citovsky et al. 1992; Isogai et al. 2006).

MP-DERIVED RESISTANCE

The 50KP plants complement the systemic spread of the 50KP-defective mutants of pCLSF (infectious cDNA clone of ACLSV), indicating that 50KP in the 50KP plants is functional. Severity of symptoms is greatly enhanced, and accumulation of virus in upper leaves is increased in 50KP plants inoculated with pCLSF or ACLSV compared with that in nontransgenic control plants (NT plants). However, most 50KP plants inoculated with Grapevine berry inner necrosis virus (GINV), another species of the genus Trichovirus, neither develop obvious symptoms nor support virus accumulation in inoculated or upper leaves (Yoshikawa et al. 2000). When viruses classified into other genera (Apple stem grooving virus: genus Capillovirus, and Apple stem pitting virus: genus Foveavirus) are inoculated, there is no difference in symptom development and virus accumulation between 50KP and NT plants. Our results indicate that transgenic plants expressing a functional 50KP are more susceptible to a homologous virus, and on the contrary, show strong resistance specific to GINV, another species of the genus *Trichovirus*. Transgenic plants expressing viral MP are reported to be resistant to homologous and heterologous viruses (Isogai et al. 2003). The phenomenon is called MP-derived resistance. However, there is no report of the MP-derived resistance specific to another species in the same genus, except that 50KP plants show resistance specific to GINV.

Inhibition of GINV 39KP cell-to-cell movement

To understand why 50KP plants show specific resistance to GINV, we first investigated the behavior of the GINV MP fused to GFP (39KP-GFP) transiently expressed in NT- and 50KP plant cells (Isogai *et al.* 2003). In NT plants, 39KP-GFP spread from initial proteins producing cells into neighboring cells in leaf epidermis (**Fig. 2**). However, when expressed in cells of 50KP plants, 39KP-GFP formed aggregates in the cytoplasm, and its normal intercellular trafficking was strongly blocked (**Fig. 2**). In contrast, cell-to-cell trafficking of 50KP-GFP was never disturbed in 50KP plant cells. Thus, it is reasonable to conclude that 50KP expressed in transgenic plant cells specifically blocked 39KP cell-to-cell movement.

In order to monitor the cell-to-cell trafficking of both 39KP and 50KP simultaneously, we used two different fluorescent proteins [yellow and cyan fluorescent proteins (YFP and CFP)]. When 39KP-YFP was co-expressed with 50KP-CFP in leaf epidermis of NT plants, the fluorescence of both 39KP-YFP and 50KP-CFP was restricted to originally bombarded single cells in about 90% of the fluorescent cells. Both YFP and CFP fluorescence cells were found in the same cells, and they formed aggregates similar to those found in epidermal cells from the 50KP plant that transiently expresses 39KP-GFP. The spatial distribution of 39KP-YFP aggregates are consistent with those of 50KP-CFP, indicating that 39KP and 50KP colocalize in the same sites of the cytoplasm. The cell-to-cell trafficking of 39KP-YFP was never inhibited when the protein was coexpressed with ACLSV CP fused to CFP, and the 50KP-YFP could spread normally when coexpressed with GINV CP. These results indicate that 39KP-YFP and 50KP-CFP specifically interfere with cell-to-cell trafficking of each other in leaf epidermis.

Mapping 50KP domain involved in the inhibition of 39KP cell-to-cell movement

To analyze the 50KP domain involved in the interference of 39KP movement, a series of 50KP deletion mutants fused to CFP (Fig. 1; ΔA -CFP to ΔG -CFP) were used (Isogai *et al.* 2003). Both YFP and CFP fluorescence was confined within single cells in about 80% of the cases in which both CFP and YFP were present as aggregates in the same sites in the cytoplasm in leaf epidermis of NT plants when 39KP-YFP

was coexpressed with Δ A-CFP, Δ B-CFP, or Δ C-CFP. In contrast, the mutants (Δ D-CFP, Δ E-CFP, Δ F-CFP, and Δ G-CFP) did not affect the movement of 39KP-YFP. These results suggest that the amino acid residues 1-286 (Δ C1) are involved in the interference of 39KP movement (**Fig. 1**). To further identity the 50KP domain of inhibition of 39KP cell-to-cell trafficking, we constructed other deletion mutants expressing Δ C1-CFP, Δ C2-CFP, and Δ C3-CFP (**Fig. 1**). Δ C1-CFP spread from the cells that produced it into neighboring cells and was targeted to plasmodesmata, whereas Δ C2-CFP and Δ C3-CFP were restricted to single cells and formed aggregates. In coexpression experiments, the cell-to-cell trafficking of 39KP-YFP was blocked in the presence of Δ C1-CFP and Δ C2-CFP, but not in the presence of Δ C3-CFP. Thus, we revealed that amino acid residues 1-265 of 50KP (Δ C2) inhibit the 39KP cell-to-cell movement (**Fig. 1**).

The relationship between inhibition of 39KP cellto-cell trafficking and resistance against GINV

To clarify the relationship between the 50KP's role in hindering cell-to-cell trafficking of 39KP and its role in the resistance against GINV seen in plants expressing 50KP, we constructed transgenic plants expressing 50KP deleted proteins (ΔA , ΔC , and ΔG), and then analyzed their responses against inoculations of ACLSV and GINV (Isogai et al. 2003). The transgenic plants expressing 50KP, ΔA , ΔC , or 50KP-GFP did not develop symptoms after inoculation with GINV. In contrast, plants expressing ΔG or GFP showed typical symptoms of GINV. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) indicate that GINV could not accumulate in either the inoculated or upper leaves of 50KP, ΔA , ΔC , and 50KP-GFP expressing plants. However, GINV accumulated in both inoculated and upper leaves of plants expressing ΔG or GFP. All plants expressing 50KP, the deletion mutants, 50KP-GFP, and GFP were susceptible to ACLSV infection, and there were no differences among these plants in virus accumulation in inoculated and upper leaves. The results indicate that transgenic plants expressing the 50KP-deletion mutants that can block cell-to-cell trafficking of 39KP show resistance against GINV.

Inhibition of GINV long-distance movement

We constructed another transgenic N. occidentalis plant expressing the 50KP deletion mutant (ΔA '; deletion of the C-terminal 42 amino acids). To examine virus distribution within 10 transgenic plants expressing $\Delta A'$ ($\Delta A'$ plants) in-oculated with GINV, inoculated and upper uninoculated leaves were analyzed by direct tissue immunoblot analysis, and tissue blot hybridization analysis (Yoshikawa et al. 2006). Unexpectedly, positive signals were detected in inoculated leaves of 7 of 10 inoculated plants, but not in the others. However, virus accumulation was never found in systemic leaves, even when the plants supported virus accumulation in inoculated leaves. These results indicate that in some $\Delta A'$ plants, GINV can spread by cell-to-cell movement within inoculated leaves, but long-distance movement from inoculated leaves to uninoculated leaves was completely inhibited, although $\Delta A'$ completely contains the $\Delta C2$ domain that inhibits 39KP cell-to-cell movement (Fig. 1). Furthermore, immunohistochemical analysis of $\Delta A'$ plants leaves inoculated with GINV showed that GINV entered into phloem parenchyma cells from the surrounding bundle sheath cells in inoculated leaves, suggesting that the long distance transport of GINV might be inhibited between phloem cells and SE and/or within SE rather than between the bundle sheath-phloem interfaces. Additionally, we revealed that $\Delta A'$ is accumulated in the parietal layer of SE and sieve plates by immunogold electron microscopy, similar to those of the 50KP (Fig. 2) (see Subcellular Localization). It therefore seems likely that the movement and function of 39KP will be blocked by the $\Delta A'$ on the parietal layer of SE, even though GINV could invade into phloem

parenchyma cells, companion cells, and SE through bundle sheath in inoculated leaves of $\Delta A'$ plants. Consequently, virus trafficking within SE may be hindered in $\Delta A'$ plant leaves. However, at this time, we are not able to explain why only $\Delta A'$ plants permit virus spread and why only some plants from the inoculated $\Delta A'$ plants were able to allow the virus to spread in inoculated leaves and others were not.

RNA SILENCING SUPPRESSOR

In plants, RNA silencing functions as an immune system against viruses and transposons (Vance and Vaucheret 2001; Baulcombe 2004; Ding *et al.* 2004; Voinnet 2005; Wang and Metzlaff 2005; Wang *et al.* 2006). The pathway is initially triggered by double-stranded RNAs, which are processed into small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) of 21 to 25 nucleotides (nt) by an RNase III-like enzyme called Dicer (Hamilton and Baulcombe 1999). These siRNAs are incorporated into a protein complex called RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), and guide the RISC to degrade target RNAs that have identical sequences to the siRNAs (Hammond et al. 2000). When RNA silencing is induced at one site, silencing signals spread systemically (Palauqui et al. 1997; Voinnet and Baulcombe 1997; Voinnet et al. 1998; Guo and Ding 2002; Himber et al. 2003), and trigger systemic silencing of target RNA in distant tissues of plants. If the silencing signals induced by virus replication spread in advance of virus movement, sequence-specific virus resistance may be established in whole plants, and the virus cannot infect systemically. To counteract RNA silencing and establish systemic infection, many viruses have evolved RNA silencing suppressors (Roth et al. 2004).

To investigate whether 216KP, 50KP, and/or CP encoded by ACLSV-RNA can function as a suppressor of RNA silencing, we conducted *Agrobacterium* infiltration assay in the GFP-expressing *N. benthamiana* line 16c (Yaegashi et al. 2007). When GFP plus 216KP, 50KP, or CP was expressed in leaves of 16c plants by agroinfiltration, none of these proteins suppressed local silencing in the infiltrated region. Subsequently, we tested whether 216KP, 50KP, or CP can interfere with the induction of systemic silencing of GFP in upper leaves of 16c plants. The results showed that systemic silencing in upper leaves induced by both singleand double-stranded $R\bar{NA}$ could be suppressed by 50KP, but not by a frame-shift mutant of 50KP, 216KP, or CP. It has been reported that short (21-22 nt) and long (25 nt) siRNAs may be involved in cell-to-cell and long-distance movement of silencing signals, respectively (Hamilton *et al.* 2002; Himber *et al.* 2003). The analysis of the accumulation level of these two classes of siRNA in leaves infiltrated with GFP plus 50KP indicated that 50KP does not inhibit the production of both short and long siRNA. In the following experiments, we investigated whether 50KP suppress systemic silencing by inhibiting the movement of silencing signals by an assay described by Guo and Ding (2002), in which the CMV-2b was locally expressed along the presumed path of movement of silencing signals. When 16c plants were simultaneously infiltrated with GFP on the tip and 50KP on the basal portion of a leaf, uninfiltrated upper leaves of 50% of infiltrated plants did not show systemic silencing of GFP at 14 dpi. All 16c plants infiltrated with 50KP on the tip and GFP on the basal portion of a leaf exhibited systemic silencing of GFP in upper leaves. These data strongly suggest that the suppression of systemic silencing by 50KP is due to inhibition of the movement of silencing signals into upper leaves, not due to suppression of the production of signals.

The suppressor activity of 50KP is relatively unusual among suppressors encoded by plant viruses reported so far, in that 50KP interferes with the spread of systemic silencing, but not with local silencing. Similar behavior for suppressors encoded by plant viruses have been reported for P1 protein of *Rice yellow mottle virus* (RYMV) and a coat protein (CP) of *Citrus tristeza virus* (CTV) (Hamilton *et al.* 2002; Himber *et al.* 2003; Lu *et al.* 2004). Interestingly, both ACLSV and CTV are fruit tree viruses, and a suppressor activity that only suppresses systemic silencing might be favorable for persistent infection in fruit trees.

Although the nature of the systemic silencing signals remains to be understood (Mlotshwa *et al.* 2002; Voinnet 2005), the signals move from cell-to-cell through plasmodesmata and systemically through phloem in a manner similar to that of virus movement (Palauqui *et al.* 1997; Voinnet *et al.* 1998). Localization of 50KP in plasmodesmata and its accumulation on the parietal layer of SE and on sieve plates (Yoshikawa *et al.* 1999, 2006) may correlate with the ability of 50KP to prevent systemic silencing. Additionally, two recent papers strongly suggested that small RNA binding is a common feature of RNA silencing suppressor (Lakatos *et al.* 2006; Merai *et al.* 2006). Further study will elucidate whether the RNA binding ability of 50KP (Isogai and Yoshikawa 2005; see RNA-binding activity) contributes to the suppression of systemic silencing.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by a Grant-in-aid for the 21st Century Center of Excellent Program from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan.

REFERENCES

Baulcombe DC (2004) RNA silencing in plants. Nature 431, 356-363

- Canto T, Palukaitis P (1999) Are tubules generated by the 3a protein necessary for Cucumber mosaic virus movement? *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 12, 985-993
- Carrington JC, Kasschau KD, Mahajan SK, Schaad MC (1996) Cell-to-cell and long-distance transport of viruses in plants. *The Plant Cell* 8, 1669-1681
- Carvalho CM, Wellink J, Ribeiro SG, Goldbach RW, van Lent LWM (2003) The C-terminal region of the movement protein of *Cowpea mosaic virus* is involved in binding to the large but not to the small coat protein. *Journal of General Virology* 84, 2271-2277
- Carvalho CM, Pouwels J, van Lent JWM, Bisseling T, Goldbach RW, Wellink J (2004) The movement protein of *Cowpea mosaic virus* binds GTP and single-stranded nucleic acid *in vitro*. Journal of Virology 78, 1591-1594
- Citovsky V, Wong ML, Shaw AL, Prasad BVV, Zambryski P (1992) Visualization and characterization of *Tobacco mosaic virus* movement protein binding to single-stranded nucleic acids. *The Plant Cell* 4, 397-411
- Ding SW, Li HW, Lu R, Li F, Li WX (2004) RNA silencing: a conserved antiviral immunity of plants and animals. *Virus Research* 102, 109-115
- Fauquet CM, Mayo MA, Maniloff JM, Desselberger U, Ball LA (2005) Virus taxonomy. In: Fauquet CM, Mayo MA, Maniloff J, Desselberger U, Ball LA (Eds) *Eighth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses*, Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA, pp 1116-1118
- German S, Candresse T, Lanneau M, Huet JC, Pernollet JC, Dunez J (1990) Nucleotide sequence and genome organization of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot closterovirus*. *Virology* **179**, 104-112
- Guo HS, Ding SW (2002) A viral protein inhibits the long range signaling activity of the gene silencing signal. *The EMBO Journal* 21, 398-407
- Hamilton AJ, Baulcombe DC (1999) A species of small antisense RNA in posttranscriptional gene silencing in plants. *Science* **286**, 950-952
- Hamilton A, Voinnet O, Chappell L, Baulcombe D (2002) Two classes of short interfering RNA in RNA silencing. *The EMBO Journal* 21, 4671-4679
- Hammond SM, Bernstein E, Beach D, Hannon GJ (2000) An RNA-directed nuclease mediates post-transcriptional gene silencing in *Drosophila* cells. *Nature* 404, 293-296
- Himber C, Dunoyer P, Moissiard G, Ritzenthaler C, Voinnet O (2003) Transitivity-dependent and -independent cell-to-cell movement of RNA silencing. *The EMBO Journal* 22, 4523-4533
- Huang M, Zhang L (1999) Association of the movement protein of alfalfa mosaic virus with the endoplasmic reticulum and its trafficking in epidermal cells of onion bulb scales. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 12, 680-690
- Isogai M, Saitou Y, Takahashi N, Itabashi T, Terada M, Satoh H, Yoshikawa N (2003) The 50-kDa Protein of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus* interferes with intracellular and intercellular targeting and tubule-inducing activity of the 39-kDa protein of *Grapevine berry inner necrosis virus*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **16**, 188-195
- Isogai M, Watanabe K, Uchidate Y, Yoshikawa N (2006) Protein-protein- and protein-RNA-binding properties of the movement protein and VP25 coat protein of *Apple latent spherical virus*. Virology 352, 178-187
- Isogai M, Yoshikawa N (2005) Mapping the RNA-binding domain on the Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus movement protein. Journal of General Virology 86, 225-229
- Itaya A, Hickman H, Bao Y, Nelson R, Ding B (1997) Cell-to-cell trafficking of *Cucumber mosaic virus* movement protein: green fluorescent protein

fusion produced by biolistic gene bombardment in tobacco. *Plant Journal* 12, 1221-1230

- Kaplan, IB, Zhang L, Palukaitis P (1998) Characterization of *Cucumber mosaic virus* V. Cell-to-cell movement requires capsid protein but not virions. *Virology* 246, 221-231
- Kasteel D, Wellink J, Verver J, van Lent J, Goldbach R, van Kammen A (1993) The involvement of cowpea mosaic virus M RNA-encoded proteins in tubule formation. *Journal of General Virology* **74**, 1721-1724
- Kasteel DTJ, van der Wel NN, Jansen KAJ, Goldbach RW, van Lent JWM (1977) Tubule-forming capacity of the movement proteins of alfalfa mosaic virus and brome mosaic virus. *Journal of General Virology* 78, 2089-2093
- Kawakami S, Watanabe Y, Beachy RN (2004) Tobacco mosaic virus infection spreads cell to cell as intact replication complexes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 6291-6296
- Knapp E, Danyluk GM, Achor D, Lewandowski DJ (2005) A bipartite Tobacco mosaic virus-defective RNA (dRNA) system to study the role of the N-terminal methyl transferase domain in cell-to-cell movement of dRNAs. *Virology* 341, 47-58
- Koonin EV, Mushegian AR, Ryabov EV, Dolja VV (1991) Diverse groups of plant RNA and DNA viruses share related movement proteins that may possess chaperone-like activity. *Journal of General Virology* 72, 2895-2903
- Lakatos L, Csorba T, Pantaleo V, Chapman EJ, Carrington JC, Liu YP, Dolja VV, Calvino LF, Lopez-Moya JJ, Burgyan J (2006) Small RNA binding is a common strategy to suppress RNA silencing by several viral suppressors. *The EMBO Journal* 25, 2768-80
- Lazarowitz SG, Beachy RN (1999) Viral movement proteins as probes for intracellular and intercellular trafficking in plants. *The Plant Cell* 11, 535-548
- Lister RM (1970) Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus. CMI/AAB Description of Plant Viruses, no. 30
- Lu R, Folimonov A, Shintaku M, Li WX, Falk BW, Dawson WO, Ding SW (2004) Three distinct suppressors of RNA silencing encoded by a 20-kb viral RNA genome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 15742-15747
- Melcher U (2000) The '30K' superfamily of viral movement proteins. Journal of General Virology 81, 257-266
- Merai Z, Kerenyi Z, Kertesz S, Magna M, Lakatos L, Silhavy D (2006) Double-stranded RNA binding may be a general plant RNA viral strategy to suppress RNA silencing. *Journal of Virology* 80, 5747-5756
- Mlotshwa S, Voinnet O, Mette MF, Matzke M, Vaucheret H, Ding SW, Pruss G, Vance VB (2002) RNA silencing and the mobile silencing signal. *Plant Cell* 14 (Suppl.), S289-S301
- Mushegian AR, Koonin EV (1993) Cell-to-cell movement of plant viruses. Insights from amino acid sequence comparisons of movement proteins and from analogies with cellular transport systems. Archives of Virology 133, 239-257
- Németh M (1986) Virus, mycoplasma and rickettsia diseases of fruit trees, Akadémiai Kaidó, City, 840 pp
- Nurkiyanova KM, Ryabov EV, Kalinina NO, Fan YC, Andreev I, Fitzgerald AG, Palukaitis P, Taliansky M (2001) Umbravirus-encoded movement protein induces tubule formation on the surface of protoplasts and binds RNA incompletely and non-cooperatively. *Journal of General Virology* 82, 2579-2588
- Palauqui JC, Elmayan T, Pollien JM, Vaucheret H (1997) Systemic acquired silencing: transgene-specific posttranscriptional silencing is transmitted by grafting from silenced stocks to non-silenced scions. *The EMBO Journal* 16, 4738-4745
- Perbal M-C, Thomas CL, Maule AJ (1993) Cauliflower mosaic virus gene I product (P1) forms tubular structures which extend from the surface of infected protoplasts. Virology 195, 281-285
- Roth BM, Pruss GJ, Vance VB (2004) Plant viral suppressors of RNA silencing. Virus Research 102, 97-108
- Sanchez-Navarro JA, Herranz MC, Pallas V (2006) Cell-to-cell movement of Alfalfa mosaic virus can be mediated by the movement proteins of Ilar-, bromo-, cucumo-, tobamo- and comoviruses and does not require virion formation. Virology 346, 66-73
- Sato K, Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T (1993) Complete nucleotide sequence of the genome of an apple isolate of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus*. Journal of General Virology 74, 1927-1931
- Sato K, Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T, Taira H (1995) Expression, subcellular location and modification of the 50 kDa protein encoded by ORF2 of the *Apple chlorotic leaf spot trichovirus* genome. *Journal of General Virology* 76, 1503-1507
- Satoh H, Matsuda H, Kawamura T, Isogai M, Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T (2000) Intracellular distribution, cell-to-cell trafficking and tubule-inducing activity of the 50 kDa movement protein of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus* fused to green fluorescent protein. *Journal of General Virology* 81, 2085-2093
- Satoh H, Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T (1999) Construction and biolistic inoculation of an infectious cDNA clone of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot trichovirus*. *Annals of the Phytopathological Society of Japan* **65**, 301-304
- Storms MMH, Kormelink R, Peters D, van Lent JWM, Goldbach RW (1990) The nonstructural NSm protein of *Tomato spotted wilt virus* induces tubular structures in plant and insect cells. *Virology* 214, 485-493

- Vance V, Vaucheret H (2001) RNA silencing in plants-defense and counterdefense. Science 292, 2277-2280
- van Lent J, Storms M, van der Meer F, Wellink J, Goldbach R (1991) Tubular structures involved in movement of *Cowpea mosaic virus* are also formed in infected cowpea protoplasts. *Journal of General Virology* 72, 2615-2623
- van Lent J, Wellink J, Goldbach R (1990) Evidence for the involvement of the 58K and 48K proteins in the intercellular movement of *Cowpea mosaic* virus. Journal of General Virology 71, 219-223
- Voinnet O (2005) Induction and suppression of RNA silencing: insights from viral infections. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 6, 206-221
- Voinnet O, Vain P, Angell S, Baulcombe DC (1998) Systemic spread of sequence-specific transgene RNA degradation in plants is initiated by localized introduction of ectopic promoterless DNA. *Cell* 95, 177-87
- Wang M-B, Metzlaff M (2005) RNA silencing and antiviral defense in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8, 216-222
- Wang M-B, Rezaian A, Watson JM, Waterhuse PM, Metzlaff M (2006) Understanding and exploiting RNA silencing-mediated antiviral defense in plants. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1st Edn, Vol III), Global Science Books, London, pp 509-522
- Wieczorek A, Sanfaçon H (1993) Characterization and subcellular Localization of *Tomato ringspot nepovirus* putative movement protein. *Virology* 194, 734-742

- Yaegashi H, Takahashi T, Isogai M, Kobori T, Ohki S, Yoshikawa N (2007) Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus 50 kDa movement protein acts as a suppressor of systemic silencing without interfering with local silencing in Nicotiana benthamiana. Journal of General Virology 88, 316-324
- Yanase H (1974) Studies on apple latent viruses in Japan. Bulletin of the Fruit Tree Research Station, Japan, Series C1, 47-109
- Yoshikawa N (2001) Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus. CMI/AAB Description of plant viruses, no. 386 (No. 30 revised)
- Yoshikawa N, Goto S, Umezawa M, Satoh N, Satoh H, Takahashi T, Ito T, Yoshida K (2000) Transgenic Nicotiana occidentalis plants expressing the 50-KDa protein of Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus display increased susceptibility to homologous virus, but strong resistance to Grapevine berry inner necrosis virus. Phytopathology 90, 311-316
- Yoshikawa N, Oogake S, Terada M, Miyabayashi S, Ikeda Y, Takahashi T, Ogawa K (1999) *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus* 50 kDa protein is targeted to plasmodesmata and accumulated in sieve elements in transgenic plant leaves. *Archives of Virology* 144, 2475-2483
- Yoshikawa N, Saitou Y, Kitajima A, Chida T, Sasaki N, Isogai M (2006) Interference of long-distance movement of *Grapevine berry inner necrosis virus* in transgenic plants expressing a defective movement protein of *Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus*. *Phytopathology* **96**, 378-385
- Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T (1988) Properties of RNAs and proteins of apple stem grooving and *Apple chlorotic leaf spot viruses*. Journal of General Virology **69**, 241-245